
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Cabinet 
 

Date:  Tuesday, 25 November 2025 

Time:  5.30 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne 

Contact:  democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel: 01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

This meeting is open to any member of the Council who wishes to ask 
questions of the Cabinet on items included on this agenda. Could 
members please notify the Committee Manager if they wish to attend 
and speak. 

1    Apologies  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes (Pages 3 - 18) 

 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2025 as an 
accurate record. 

4    Public Questions  

5    Greater Cambridge Local Plan – Draft Regulation 18 
plan for consultation and updated Local 
Development Scheme (Pages 19 - 40) 

 Appendix K is to follow.  
 
Accompanying reports and appendices can be found via links within 
the report. 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Cabinet Members: Holloway (Chair), Wade (Vice-Chair), Bird, Moore, 
Nestor, Smart, A. Smith, S. Smith, Thornburrow and Todd-Jones 

 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

• Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

• Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

• Phone: 01223 457000 
 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. You can 
watch proceedings on the livestream or attend the meeting in person. 
 
Those wishing to address the meeting will be able to do so virtually via 
Microsoft Teams, or by attending to speak in person. You must contact 
Democratic Services democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two 
working days before the meeting. 
 
The full text of any public question must be submitted in writing by 
noon two working days before the date of the meeting or it will not be 
accepted. All questions submitted by the deadline will be published on 
the meeting webpage before the meeting is held. 
 
Further information on public speaking will be supplied once registration and 
the written question / statement has been received. 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

1 

CABINET 21 October 2025 
 5.00-6.30pm  
 
Present:  Councillors Holloway (Chair), Wade (Vice-Chair), Bird, Nestor, 
Smart, A. Smith, S. Smith, Thornburrow and Todd-Jones 
 
Other Councillors present:  
 
Councillors Baigent, Bennett, Bick, Dalzell, Porrer 
 
Officers Present:  
Chief Executive: Robert Pollock 
Assistant Director, Development: Ben Binns 
Director Economy & Place: Lynne Miles 
Head of Legal Practice: Tom Lewis 
Chief Financial Officer: Jody Etherington 
Democratic Services Manager: Dan Kalley 
Meeting Producers: Claire Tunnicliffe & Matthew Hussey  
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

25/37/Cab Apologies 
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Moore. 

25/38/Cab Declarations of Interest 
 
A non-pecuniary declaration of interest was made by Councillor Thornburrow 
in respect of item 25/42/Cab, as a Member the Planning Committee. 
 
A non-pecuniary declaration of interest was made by Councillors Bird and S. 
Smith in respect of item 25/42/Cab as Members of the Cambridge Investment 
Partnership Board. 

25/39/Cab Minutes of the meeting held 25 September 2025 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2025 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 

25/40/Cab Public Questions 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

2 

 
Question 1 
 
"In September 2023, my partner Taj and I opened the Tourist Information 
Centre as a 12 month trial, to test to see if reviving the lost service was viable. 
The results were a success. 
  
In 2024, we built on the progress of the first year, improving our operation and 
digging into the numbers to ensure that it was self-sustaining with its revenue 
and costs. 
  
At the end of the second year, we were in a strong enough position to pay for 
the third year in a single instalment and hire a new full-time salaried employee. 
  
When I started this experiment, I did not know anything about the Civic Quarter 
plans, and it was only relatively recently, in the last 2 months or so, that the 
details of that development have really started to emerge, and I am now in a 
predicament, as it looks as though the success we have achieve is going to be 
driven over the edge of a cliff. 
  
Since the old TIC closed in 2020, it is clear that the need and value of Tourist 
Information Services in general have been underestimated and overlooked, 
which is also apparent from the Civic Quarter plans. 
  
And so, my challenge now is having to try to get the Council to recognise and 
understand what it is we do, and to make a plea to the decision-makers to 
incorporate us into the plans for the future of the Guildhall. 
  
Can the members of the Cabinet who are the relevant decision-makers please 
let me know how and when I can make this pitch to them, and to open a 
constructive dialogue about how the Council can help us to continue 
throughout these upcoming changes? 
  
I have been putting together the case for the TIC which includes: Cost/benefits 
to the Council and society, footfall generation, revenue generation, and data 
collection, in-person public services 7-days-a week, over 350 5-star google 
reviews, witness testimony and more. 
  
We have added undoubted value to the visitor economy and experience, and 
want that to continue throughout and beyond the development. 
  

Page 4



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

3 

As well as that, there is a case to be made that using the space for a TIC will 
create more revenue and overall benefit for the Council that converting it into 
an rentable office / meeting space, which I also examine in my presentation. 
  
In the Cabinet papers from 25th September 2025 it was recommended that the 
Cabinet: 
  
(page 9) 1.1. III: "agrees to develop technical designs with traders and 
stakeholders" 
  
And that the plan is for: 
  
(page 10) 2.1, 4: "opening up the Guildhall to the community". 
  
There is now a strong community presence already alive in that area of the 
Guildhall, which was not there before September 2023, and we want to protect 
and nurture it. 
  
I hope we can begin a productive process of collaboration over the TIC which 
will benefit the Council and let us continue providing the benefit to the 
community which we serve. 
 
The Chair responded with the following:  
 

i. That the Tourist Information Centre (TIC) was thanked for the service it 
provides for the City of Cambridge. 

 
ii. That the Tourist Information Centre was a successful and profitable 

business. 
 

iii. Council Officers and the landlord Alia had directly made contact with the 
TIC in regard to the proposed date of November 2026 for decamp 
from the Guildhall. 

 
iv. That the TIC had been directed to Property Services for alternative 

locations during the refurbishment of the Guildhall, and it was suggest 
that the owners of the TIC sit down with officers to work through 
potential options. 

 
v.  In addition, the TIC had also been put in contact with Market Operations, 

with an option to have a permanent stall and that details had already 
been passed onto the managing agent who would likely be appointed 

Page 5



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

4 

in September 20026 and would be promoting the Guildhall to 
commercial users for office space once the refurbishment of the 
Guildhall was completed in January 2028. 

vi. It was important to note that Cabinet had to balance a lot of competing 
needs for the Guildhall and the Civic Quarter project as a whole with 
the Council having to generate enough income to fund borrowing 
costs and to ensure that there was a range of services available at the 
Guildhall. 

 
vii. That the TIC was encouraged to continue with dialogue with council 

Officer. 
 
Supplementary 
 

i. That the TIC was continuing to look at every possible means they could 
to get onto the Councils radar and that the intentions of the TIC were 
completely clear. 

 
ii. Although contact had been limited, there had been some productive 

meetings with Council Officers. 
 

iii. That the TIC wanted to protect the business they had built and the 
service it provided and have that service potentially incorporated into 
the future plans of the Civic Quarter. 

 
iv. It was hoped that when an actual decision was due to be made that an 

assessment and review of the service provided by the TIC was 
undertaken.  

 
The Chair responded  
 

i. The Cabinet appreciated the opportunity to liaise with the TIC and that it 
was a difficult period for anyone that was a tenant at the Guildhall. 

 
ii. Various areas had been marked for commercial office space and other 

uses and it was important to note that this was indicative and that each 
area had not been set in stone at this point. 

 
iii. Discussions would continue with tenants and on the Councils own review 

process as well.   
 
Question 2 

Page 6



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

5 

 
The North Cambridge Framework for Change is an important initiative which is 
indicative of the forward-looking approach of Cambridge City Council in the 
aim to provide residents with safe, secure and ‘fit for purpose’ housing and 
accommodation north of the City, an area which requires positive attention and 
a project for redevelopment.  
 

1. Could Cabinet please confirm that the traders of Arbury Court will be 
supported in this project, for it is vital for residents to retain the current 
traders in situ. The butcher, baker and Budgens, along with the other 
small businesses – including the post office - making up Arbury Court, 
are vital to residents of Arbury, West Chesterton and Kings Hedges at 
least. Traders need firm and clear assurances in writing that in any 
requirement to remove from their current premises during rebuilding and 
refurbishment will enable them to continue trading and to return to Arbury 
Court to resume trading. In particular, where equipment is central to 
trading (eg butcher) there needs to be clarity on financial and other 
support, just as there are clear and firm assurances to residents of 
Arbury Court and Kingsway Flats that they will be provided with financial 
and other support during the transition period. 

2. Could Cabinet please confirm that the oversight by the Council will be 
maintained at a level that ensures that this project, which involves a 
substantial public outlay, will not be left in the hands of the relevant 
officer in charge. The officer’s qualifications are recognised, and at the 
same time the Council and Councillors engaged in the Council 
administration have responsibility for the deployment of finances and 
cannot leave oversight to one Cabinet member despite their substantial 
qualifications. There must be support from Councillors involved in the 
administration which is directed to ensuring positive oversight of the 
Project and residents will require confirmation of this. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Housing responded: 
 

i. The Cabinet papers stated that the proposals will mean that the new 
commercial premises would be built first so that traders would be able to 
stay in their current premises.  

 
ii. The Council had committed to providing a support package which would 

be shaped by feedback from traders. 
 

Page 7



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

6 

iii. Traders were meeting council officers from both the Development and 
the Property Service Team on a regular basis, and that a liaison group 
would be established. 

 
iv. This is a commitment that follows the motion agreed at Full Council. 

 
v. In regard to the second part of the question, all development projects 

had a robust governance process.  The Development Team had 
significant experience in regeneration projects and would work with 
teams across the Council including Property services, Communities, 
Housing Management and Assets. 

 
vi. The project sponsor was an Assistant Director who would oversee the 

Senior Development Manager and other Development Team Members 
who would run the day to day project management.   

vii. Progress was reported to a monthly project board, where any risks to the 
development would be escalated to a development board that consisted 
of the Directors of the Council. 

 
viii. The Cabinet report had been signed off by the Director of Economy and 

Place, with all drafts discussed with the Council’s Leadership Team and 
Cabinet.  In addition, there were also Ward Councillor briefings.   

 
ix. The Team reported regularly to Cabinet, especially to Cabinet Members 

for Housing and Finance and the Leader of the Council. 
 
Supplementary  
 

i. In regard to climate change and the environment, traders and residents 
needed to be assured that these would be taken into account. 

 
ii. If there was a need for lifts, attention would need to be paid to the fact 

that they were notorious for breaking down. 
 
iii. The proposed playground should retain the same size as the existing 

facility. 
 
iv. The library should be expanded to include community rooms if possible. 

 
v. Concern was raised that the plan suggested that the supermarket would 

be smaller and that residents did not want an Express shop but wanted 

Page 8



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

7 

Budgens to remain.  Residents wanted ‘the butcher, the baker, the 
bicycle maker and the greengrocer’ as Arbury Court was a unique space. 

 
vi. It would be appreciated if the Cabinet Members Community and Open 

Spaces could be involved. 
 
vii. That regular updates should be given to both the residents and traders 

by the council. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing responded: 
 

i. The next drop-in session was scheduled for Monday 3 November 2025 
at the Meadows Community Centre. 

 
ii. All residents and traders would be kept informed of any updates and 

drop-in sessions. 
 
iii. Traders would be able to remain in their current locations whilst building 

works were being carried out.  Once the new building had been 
completed, traders could move into the new premises.  Traders would 
also receive support to help them relocate. Also, one to one sessions 
were available with Council Officers. 

 
 
iv. The Cabinet Members for Community and Open Spaces would also be 

involved in any discussions going forward. 
 
v. In regard to biodiversity, this would be included as part of the Planning 

process.  
 
Question 3 
 
Support for Traders 
It is gratifying to see that residential tenants and leaseholders are to be offered 
considerable support in finding and transitioning to new homes including 
financial support and compensation where appropriate. 
 
The report acknowledges the importance of the shopping centre as a vital part 
of the community but it does not seem to recognise the special role played by 
the small, independent shopkeepers which make it unique.  If we lose them, 
the community will lose something special and they will lose their livelihoods.  

Page 9



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

8 

It is therefore disappointing that no similar financial support seems to be on 
offer. 
 
Will the traders: 
a) be guaranteed to have new premises which are comparable in size, cost 
and footfall to what they have currently? 
b) be assisted with the costs of having to fit out new premises? 
c) be compensated for business disruption, including disruption due to 
changes and delays in the project? 
Will the building contracts include specific requirements to protect the traders' 
businesses and pay compensation if these are not met? 
 
New Homes and Service Providers 
The report envisages a doubling of homes from 205 to 410.  At Arbury Court 
the number of homes will increase by 182 units. 
 
Has an impact assessment been made to give assurance that there will be  
sufficient capacity in terms of doctors, pharmacies, dentists, schools and child-
care facilities to support this? 
 
Programme Management vs Project Management 
Project management of building contracts is usually focussed on building to 
cost and time objectives, often at the expense of impact on the wider 
community. Residents, and businesses especially, experienced this during the 
Milton Road reconstruction. 
On the other hand a Programme Manager has responsibility to ensure that a 
complex set of community benefits are achieved overall. 
 
Will a Programme Manager be appointed with overall responsibility to ensure 
that community objectives are written into contracts and delivered? 
 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing said the following.  
 

i. In respect of Part A, the Council was committed to improving the same 
amount of commercial spacing as current. 

 
ii. The Council wanted the new Arbury Court to thrive and remain busy and 

be an attractive place for residents to visit. 
 

Page 10



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

9 

iii. In regard to Parts B & C, the Council was committed to providing a 
support package during the transition and rent reduction for the first two 
years to move into the new premises when they are built. 

 
iv. In regard to the impact on local services, if Cabinet approves the next 

steps, the planning process would mean that these questions would be 
considered by the planners, and the development would need to make 
contributions towards education, health and highways.  

 
v. In response to the question around governance, the development Team 

had extensive experience in dealing with complex regeneration projects 
working with officers across the Council. 

 
vi. As previously stated the project sponsor is an Assistant Director who 

oversaw the Senior Development Manager and other Development 
Team members who ran the day to day project management. 

 
vii. In response to Part C, Traders would remain in their properties until the 

new development was completed.  At that point they would be moved 
into their new shops and would receive help should it be needed. 

 
viii. The Assistant Director, Development added that the Council would be 

committed to ensure that during construction, the shops were fully 
functional, with parking, deliveries and customers being unhindered.  
This would require liaison with traders and the contractor, once 
appointed to iron out the details. 

 
ix. The contract would need to be robust, as if there were any disruption, 

dust from the site or any delay issues, this would cause a problem to the 
Council and traders would need to be recompensed.   

 
x. There would need to be minimal disruption to both traders and Arbury 

Court whilst building works were carried out.  
 
Supplementary  
 

i. There appeared to be an error to the Risk Register as it stated the risk 
identified  was a risk of the delay to the program due to the design team 
not meeting the Planning submission target of January 2026.  This date 
was quivered this date as the consultation was only being conducted in 
November and December 2025.  

 

Page 11



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

10 

 
The Assistant Director, Development responded:  
 

i. The Planning submission date listed on page 27 of the report was 
incorrect and should read September 2026 as shown elsewhere in the 
report. 

25/41/Cab HRA – Rent and Service Charge Policy 2025 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented the report. 
 
The report and attached Rent and Service Charge Policy had been developed 
to set out how Cambridge City Council’s landlord services would set their rents 
and service charges in Housing Revenue Account (HRA) owned and managed 
properties. It had been written in accordance with best practice, legislation and 
regulation to set out clearly and transparently to our tenants and leaseholders 
how the Council set their rent and service charges. 
  
This policy ensured the Council set rent and service charges in accordance 
with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Rent Standard 2020 and meets all 
relevant Housing Legislation. 
 
Cabinet unanimously resolved to: 
 

i. Approve the Rent and Service Charge Policy, which will be implemented 
immediately. 

 
ii. Provide the Cabinet Member for Housing, Assistant Director Housing 

and Health in consultation with the Housing Advisory Board delegated 
authority to update the policy as required. 

 
 
iii. Provide the Assistant Director Housing and Health, Strategic Housing 

Management Lead and Housing Leadership Board delegated authority to 
develop all relevant procedures to support the implementation of this 
Rent and Service Charge Policy. 

25/42/Cab Cambridge North Framework for Change 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented the report.  
 

Page 12



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

11 

The report advised that the council had an opportunity to invest in one of the 
most deprived parts of the city and truly change people’s lives through a 
coordinated place-making approach delivering new homes, new community 
facilities, and giving a new lease of life to a much-loved shopping centre. Up to 
410 new homes were proposed including at least 206 council homes replacing 
sub-standard existing council homes – with the new homes built to meet 
modern space standards, and to be more energy efficient and cheaper for 
tenants to run. 
 
The Assistant Director, Development gave a presentation in addition to the 
covering report. 
 
Following questions, the Cabinet Member and the Leader said the following: 
  

i. The proposal to redevelop Library Court was due to homes requiring 
better insulation and energy efficiency.   

 
ii. Following the consultation, residents wanted a more affordable and 

diverse range of shops and a modernised library and community centre, 
with more social venues such as cafes and pubs needed in the area.  
Concerns had been expressed regarding antisocial behaviour, 
maintenance and accessibility.   

 
iii. Residents wanted regeneration but wanted to maintain the character of 

Arbury Court and support for existing traders. 
 
iv. The current homes were old and inefficient.  It would not be cost effective 

to retrofit those properties, therefore they would need to be demolished 
and replaced with buildings of a high standard that residents deserved.  

 
v. The reason for the potential number of units was because the Council 

wanted to apply for Homes England funding, with the report setting out 
the minimum numbers of housing.  However, the Council wanted to be 
able to get more social housing and needed to see what level of funding 
it could receive.  

 
vi. The package available to traders was important and an announcement 

had already been made and that the Council would continue to work with 
them if the development goes ahead and beyond.  

 

Page 13



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

12 

vii. A liaison group would be established as this was an important method of 
keeping people up to date and was also a means to disseminate 
accurate information.  

 
viii. Hard copies of the consultation would be available at the library and 

community centres for those without access to the internet. 
 
ix. In respect of empty shops, it was hoped that there would be an increase 

demand once the development was completed due to more people in the 
area. 

 
x. The structure of the existing homes was the issue and not the tenants.  

This was a great scheme and it was understood that residents would be 
upset in losing their family homes, but the current buildings were no 
longer fit for purpose. 

 
xi. There was still lots of work to be carried out before the development was 

approved with consultations, workshops, drop in events, webinars and 
direct contact with residents to be held. 

 
xii. There would be reprovision and enhancement of the existing open space 

at Arbury Court with provision to slightly increase the area.  In respect of 
Kingsway, there would be a reduction in open space although there 
would be an enhancement made to offset any loss. 

 
xiii. Funding was HRA funded and not by the General Fund and included 

commercial premises and had been assumed in the financing.  Also, the 
Council would continue to own the premises as this would unlock the 
regeneration.  

 
xiv. In regard to Homes England funding, the Council would be committing to 

a bid for strategic partnership that would allow more flexibility in the 
funding mechanism.  If the Council was not successful in securing 
funding, it would apply for funding on a scheme-by-scheme basis.  
Alongside this, a number of government policies was being considered 
such as the Right to Buy, CPI Plus One and other technical aspects that 
would impact the thirty-year business plan which would demonstrate 
what levels of headroom were available. 

 
xv. This was likely to be a Cambridge Investment Partnership Scheme, 

which was a method of funding Council homes as most of the Councils 
developments were.  

Page 14



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

13 

 
xvi. There were six modular homes being installed at Woodhouse Way in 

partnership with It Takes a City. 
 

xvii. Every resident/trader that would be moved out during redevelopment, 
would have the right to return if they so wished to their new homes once 
in place. 

 
xviii. Although the final number of Council Homes at affordable/social rent that 

would be available was not known due to funding, a minimum number 
had been affirmed.  

 
xix. Cambridge City Council was one of the best providers of new Council 

homes, and it was only through the program that this had been sustained 
in recent years. 

    
Cabinet unanimously resolved to note:  
 
i.     The Council’s corporate vision for North Cambridge – the Framework for 
Change – and the Consultation Report. 
 

ii. The analysis of the area, its opportunities and challenges, the council’s 
strategic objectives, the Design Code, which is now a Supplementary 
Planning Document, and the outcome of the local consultation exercise 
carried out in May/June 2024. 

 
iii. The wide range of issues identified that will require co-operation across a 

range of Council teams and external agencies. 
 
iv. The steps proposed in the report to co-ordinate response to these 

issues. Different funding streams will have a role in meeting these 
objectives and financial constraints will affect the pace of progress. 
Localised development proposals will also contribute. 

 
v. The recommendations support increased council housing in the city and 

the council’s bid for a Strategic Partnership with Homes England. 
 

vi. That a public consultation process will take place in autumn 2025 on the 
North Cambridge Framework for Change Report and in parallel the 
proposals for Arbury Court and Kingsway, parts of Brackley Close, 
Rutland Close and Verulam Way. 

  

Page 15



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

14 

Cabinet unanimously resolved to approve: 
  
i.     That the Arbury Court and Kingsway, parts of Brackley Close, Rutland 

Close and Verulam Way scheme be included in the Housing Capital 
Programme, with an indicative capital budget of £81,200,000 subject to 
Homes England Funding to cover all site assembly, construction costs, 
professional fees and further associated fees, to deliver a mixed tenure 
housing scheme which meets the identified need in Cambridge. Budget 
will be drawn down from the sum already approved for investment in new 
homes and not yet allocated. 

 
ii. Authorising the Assistant Director, Development in consultation with and 

approval of the Cabinet Member for housing to approve variations to the 
scheme including the number of units and mix of property types, sizes 
and tenure. 
 

iii. Delegating authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Housing in 
conjunction with the Assistant Director, Development to enable the sites 
at Arbury Court, Kingsway, parts of Brackley Close, Rutland Close and 
Verulam Way to be developed through Cambridge Investment 
Partnership (CIP) or through an alternative procurement route subject to 
a value for money assessment to be carried out on behalf of the Council. 
 

iv. Authorising, subject to 3, the Assistant Director in consultation with the 
Cabinet member for Housing to approve the transfer of the land for 
Arbury Court, Kingsway, parts of Brackley Close, Rutland Close and 
Verulam Way shown edged red on the attached plan in Appendix 3 and 
5 to a third party for redevelopment. The transfer will be at a value 
provided by a further independent valuation. 
 

v. Authorising, subject to 3, the Assistant Director of Development in 
consultation with the Cabinet member for Housing to approve an 
Affordable Housing Agreement with a third party for the purchase of 206 
affordable homes. This agreement will be at a value provided by an 
independent valuer. 
 

vi. With effect from the submission of a planning application for Arbury 
Court, approve (a) the purchase of the leasehold and freehold properties 
and (b) the issue of Home Loss and Disturbance payments to qualifying 
Council occupiers and Home Loss, Basic Loss and Disturbance 
payments to qualifying owners at the addresses at Arbury Court, 

Page 16



Cabinet  Tuesday, 21 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

15 

Kingsway, Brackley Close, Verulam Way and Rutland Close detailed in 
this report. 
 

vii. Delegating authority to the Assistant Director of Development to make a 
Compulsory Purchase Order in respect of any leasehold interests at 
Kingsway, Brackley Close and Arbury Court and any of the 5 freehold 
households on Rutland Close and Verulam Way identified for possible 
redevelopment that cannot be acquired by private treaty within a 
reasonable timescale and at a reasonable cost subject to the Director of 
Place being satisfied that there is a compelling case in the public interest 
for the use of compulsory purchase powers, and that all legal and policy 
requirements for the making and confirmation of a CPO have been met. 
 

viii. Delegating authority to the Assistant Director, Development to serve 
initial Demolition Notices under the Housing Act 1985. 
 

ix. Delegating Authority to the Assistant Director of Housing and 
Homelessness to approve a local lettings plan for the proposed 
developments. 
 

x. That a budget of £10,000 be allocated out of the approved new build 
housing budget and the use of the land at the Woodhouse Way as a site 
for delivery of modular (pod) housing to serve former rough sleepers. 
  

xi. Delegate authority to the Chief Property Surveyor in consultation with the 
s151 Officer to approve the terms of lease of the land at Woodhouse 
Way to a third party charitable organisation. 

 
 
 

The meeting ended at 6.30pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

REPORT TITLE: Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan for consultation 

(Regulation 18), and Update of Local Development Scheme 

To:  
 

Joint Cabinet (25 November 2025) 

Report by:  
Stephen Kelly, Joint Director of Planning 
Email: stephen.kelly@greatercambridgeplanning.org 

Wards affected:  
All. 

 
Director Approval: Director Stephen Kelly confirms that the report author has sought the advice 
of all appropriate colleagues and given due regard to that advice; that the equalities impacts and 
other implications of the recommended decisions have been assessed and accurately presented 
in the report; and that they are content for the report to be put to the Cabinet/Cabinet Member for 
decision. 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:  

a. Agree the Greater Cambridge Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18) for Public 
Consultation (Appendix A), subject to amendments proposed in Appendix K; 

 
b. Note the Sustainability Appraisal (Appendix B) and Habitats Regulations 

Assessment (Appendix C) and agree them as supporting documents that will 
also be subject to public consultation;  

 
c. Agree to the publication of the following supporting documents to the public 

consultation:   
i. Topic papers for each theme (including responses to First Proposals 

consultation comments) (Appendix D);  

ii. Statement of Consultation (Appendix E); 

iii. Duty to Cooperate Statement of Compliance (Appendix F);  

iv. Draft Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground (Appendix G); 

v. Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix H);  

vi. Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (Appendix I) 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 
 

   

 

d. Agree the Update to the Local Development Scheme (Local Plan Timetable) 
(Appendix J) 

 
e. Agree that any subsequent material amendments to be made to the plan prior 

to consultation commencing will be approved by the Lead Member for 
Planning and Transport in Cambridge City Council and Lead Cabinet Member 
for Planning at South Cambridgeshire District Council; 

 
f. Agree that any subsequent minor amendments and editing changes that do 

not materially affect the content be delegated to the Joint Director of Planning 
in consultation with the Lead Members for Planning. 

2. Purpose and reason for the report 

 

2.1 Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council are preparing a joint 
local plan, the Greater Cambridge Local Plan. Building on the stages of plan making 
already carried out this report seeks agreement to consult on a draft version of the 
Local Plan starting in December. The feedback received will help shape the final plan 
that the Council would consult and submit for examination at the end of next year. 

The Draft Local Plan proposes a vision for the future of Greater Cambridge. It identifies 
the development needs of the area for homes and jobs, and a development strategy for 
how those needs can be met sustainably. It proposes a range of theme-based policies 
to shape the form of development. The plan proposes a number of development site 
allocations to meet development needs in the plan period to 2045 and beyond. This 
includes developments in and on the edge of Cambridge including the airport site, at 
Cambourne where it can benefit from new transport infrastructure proposals, and in the 
corridor south of Cambridge where homes are proposed in a new settlement close to 
the research parks and well connected to the biomedical campus. 

3. Alternative options considered 

3.1 Members may decide to: 

a. Agree the recommendations, including the Draft Local Plan (recommendation 
a)  and supporting documents (recommendations b, c), and the local 
development scheme (recommendation d) as proposed without making any 
further amendments; 

b. Agree the recommendation subject to amendments; or  
c. Not agree the recommendations.  

 

4. Background and key issues 

 

4.1 Introduction 

Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council have committed to 
producing a Joint Local Plan for the Greater Cambridge area. The role of a local plan is 
to provide a vision for the future development of the area by identifying development 

Page 20



 
 

   

 

needs, developing a strategy for where they should be met, identifying infrastructure 
needed to support the development, and setting policy requirements to guide the form 
of development. When it is adopted, the new local plan will replace each Council’s 2018 
Local Plans and earlier Area Action Plans as the statutory “Development Plan” for the 
area and will guide future decisions on planning applications. 

 

4.2 Background 

The process for preparing the Greater Cambridge Local Plan started around 5 years 
ago. Several stages of public consultation and engagement have already taken place 
as set out in this report and in the Consultation Statement contained as Appendix E to 
this report. The following section provides a broad overview of the plan making stages 
so far: 

 

• The First Conversation consultation was held 13 January to 24 February 
2020, and gathered views on the issues facing the area and approaches that 
could be taken to addressing them.  
 

• The First Proposals consultation proposed ‘preferred options’ for the level of 
development needs, allocations to meet them, and policies which would 
guide the consideration of planning applications. The consultation ran 
between 1 November and 13 December 2021. 
 

• A report on the First Proposals Consultation was published in June 2022, 
which identified that some 10,000 individual comments were received, and 
around 200 further site suggestions (South Cambridgeshire Cabinet 11 July 
2022, Cambridge Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee 28 June 2022). 
Comments received on the consultation can be viewed in full on the Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning Service website. Representations were then 
reported to the Joint Local Plan Advisory Group in a series of meetings in 
2022 and 2023.  

 

• A Development Strategy Update was reported to members in January 2023. 
This considered representations on strategy issues and further evidence of 
the level of need for homes and jobs. Members endorsed the approach to the 
development strategy and key sites (South Cambridgeshire Cabinet 6 
February 2023, Cambridge Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee 17 
January 2023). 

 

• A report in March 2024 updated the plan making timetable, highlighting key 
external dependencies which were impacting on our ability to set a firm plan 
making timetable, in particular water supply, transport, national plan making 
reform, the outcome of the Cambridge Waste Water Relocation planning 
process, and national ambitions for Cambridge (South Cambridgeshire 
Cabinet 12 March 2024, Cambridge Planning and Transport Scrutiny 
Committee 19 March 2024). 

 

Page 21



 
 

   

 

• In November 2024 the plan making timetable was updated again when 
transition arrangements were published by the government on the plan 
making system, advising that plans in development should continue under the 
current system and extending the period for plans to be submitted to the end 
of 2026. (South Cambridgeshire Cabinet 5 November 2024, Cambridge 
Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee 4 November 2024). In January 
2025 the Councils further updated the Local Development Scheme (Local 
Plan timetable) to clarify intentions to prepare to submit a Local Plan under 
the current plan making system by December 2026 (South Cambridgeshire 
Cabinet 14 January 2025, Cambridge Planning and Transport Scrutiny 
Committee 14 January 2025). 

 

• In March 2025 site submission updates to the Call for Sites were invited to 
ensure that the information submitted was the most up to date for 
assessment.  

 
The Joint Planning Advisory Group, which include members of both Councils and 
includes a County Council member, met on 24 September 2025, and considered 
reports on key issues which has impacted on our delivery of the Local Plan up to this 
point and key issues that could influence the plan going forward. They also met on 8 
October 2025 to consider consultation approaches and the emerging approaches to 
policy themes. The reports and minutes can be found in the background papers of this 
report.  

4.3 The Current Draft Local Plan Stage 

The next step for our plan making process is consultation on a draft Local Plan. Along 
with the two previous public consultations this forms part of the regulation 18 stage of 
plan making. These national regulations govern the plan making process, and the 
regulation 18 stage is about engagement when preparing a new plan. It will allow the 
councils to engage with community and get feedback on a draft plan before we test and 
then confirm the plan we will be seeking to adopt. After considering comments we 
receive, the next plan making stage in summer 2026 will be consulting on the 
“soundness” of the plan the Councils want to adopt, known as the regulation 19 stage. 
After that the plan would be submitted for examination, where an independent inspector 
will consider whether the plan is sound and can be adopted. We are seeking to submit 
the plan by the end of 2026, to meet the deadline set by government for plans using the 
current plan making system.   

The proposed Draft Local Plan consultation document is contained in Appendix A to this 
report. The plan making process so far has validated a focus on using four key themes 
to explore the growth and development issues facing the area; Climate Change, 
Biodiversity and Green Spaces, Wellbeing and Social Inclusion, and Great Places. 
Alongside these central themes the Council has considered the evidence on the need 
for new homes, jobs and the infrastructure requirements. This has resulted in the 
development of a spatial strategy and in turn, a series of site allocations and policy 
requirements.  The Draft Plan is therefore structured around the following components:   

• Strategy  

• Site allocations 

Page 22



 
 

   

 

• Climate change  

• Biodiversity and green spaces  

• Wellbeing and social inclusion  

• Great Places  

• Jobs 

• Homes 

• Infrastructure  
 

Each chapter / theme includes a set of planning policies which will be used to guide 
planning decisions when adopted.  

4.4 Supporting Documents 

A Topic Paper has been prepared for each Theme (see Appendix D) to provide more 
background and context for the proposals in the consultation document. The topic 
papers include responses to the main issues raised in responses to the First Proposals 
consultation. 

The Plan has been subject to Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Directive 
Assessment, which consider the impacts of the proposals of the plan against 
alternatives, and which also will form part of the consultation. 

The Statement of Consultation (Appendix E) captures the results of the consultation 
stages undertaken so far and the approach to the next stage of consultation. It also 
includes responses to representations from the First Proposals stage. 

Plan making is subject to a duty to cooperate with other public bodies. A Duty to 
Cooperate Statement of Compliance (Appendix F) and Draft Duty to Cooperate 
Statement of Common Ground (attached at Appendix G) have been prepared to 
document this on-going process. 

The draft Plan has also been informed by an Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix 
H). 

The Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) has been updated 
(Appendix I). The plan making process has been informed by several opportunities to 
submit site suggestions. These have been reviewed through the HELAA to consider 
their availability, suitability and deliverability. The latest update considers new sites and 
new information provided through the First Proposals and though the ‘call for sites 
information’ issued earlier in 2025. 

4.5 Evidence Base Documents 

National planning policy requires that plans are underpinned by relevant and up-to-date 
evidence. This should be adequate and proportionate, focused tightly on supporting 
and justifying the policies concerned. A suite of evidence has been prepared to 
accompany the draft plan, building on the evidence from previous stages. The evidence 
is listed in the background papers section at the end of this report. 

Page 23



 
 

   

 

4.6 Key issues impacting the Local Plan process 

In recent years, the development of the Joint Local Plan has faced a number of issues 
relating to external factors, decisions and the programmes of others, including the 
government and infrastructure providers. Earlier stages of the Local Plan highlighted 
how the spatial strategy, and specific proposals under development, depended upon 
decisions on key infrastructure projects such as East West Rail (EWR) and the 
Cambridge Waste Water Treatment Works relocation, upon the clarification of the 
Governments ambitions for Cambridge, and clarification on proposed planning reforms, 
but also on the availability of a water supply that did not compromise the environmental 
quality of the areas precious chalk streams.  

In the intervening period between the previous draft plan and the proposals now before 
the Council, considerable progress has been made in a number of these areas. A 
commitment from Government on supporting resolution of water supply challenges (and 
an approved WRMP) have enabled the Councils to put forward a growth trajectory that 
phases the additional new sites identified to improvements in available supply. 
Alongside a programme of planning reform, the Government has also continued and 
deepened its commitment to EWR and established the Cambridge Growth Company to 
underpin delivery of sustainable housing and economic growth in the area. Progress by 
the Greater Cambridge Partnership on infrastructure projects to provide enhanced 
public transport connections has also been made. The Combined Authority has also 
recently re-affirmed it committed to deliver a transport strategy for Greater Cambridge 
that meets the Local Plan’s needs.  

There nevertheless continue to be challenges to the plans delivery that both Councils 
will need to continue to engage with all partners upon. Whilst a water resources 
management plan and the work of the Government appointed Water Scarcity Group 
has enabled significant confidence to be gained around the process for meeting water 
supply challenges, recent decisions that impact water treatment capacity within the plan 
area mean that renewed effort is required by all agencies before the Councils can be 
sure that the plans proposals are accompanied by a water treatment solution that meets 
the plans environmental objectives. Decisions consenting key infrastructure projects 
such as East West Rail, the Cambourne to Cambridge, Cambridge South East and 
Waterbeach to Cambridge public transport corridors remain outstanding at this time. 
The Governments proposals for the City being developed by the Cambridge Growth 
Company are being developed with a commitment to complement the emerging Local 
Plan but may also impact infrastructure and delivery requirements during the plan 
period that have not yet been captured.  

The Councils will therefore need to continue to carefully monitor and consider these 
external factors against the proposals set out in this draft local plan. The proposals 
must also be carefully qualified by reference to those external factors. However, 
regardless of the spatial strategy or distinct site and policy allocations, these matters 
would apply to a greater or lesser extent to any emerging local plan. Accordingly, it is 
considered that progression of the plan remains appropriate at this time. The Contents 
of the Draft Local Plan 

The draft Local Plan is an extensive document. The first chapter of the Document 
provides a ‘Summary of the Greater Cambridge Local Plan’, which gives an overview of 
the vision the plan is trying to achieve, the development needs that have been 

Page 24



 
 

   

 

identified, the development strategy to meet those needs, and planning policies which 
will guide how it is implemented. 

Our overarching vision for the plan is that, ‘We want Greater Cambridge to be a place 
where impacts on our climate and environment are significantly reduced, balanced with 
the continued flourishing of our internationally significant innovation economy, and an 
increase in the quality of everyday life for all our communities. New development must 
minimise carbon emissions and reliance on the private car, create thriving 
neighbourhoods with the variety of jobs and homes and supporting infrastructure we 
need, increase our network of nature, wildlife and multi-functional green spaces, and 
safeguard our unique, locally distinctive heritage and landscapes.’  

During earlier stages of consultation the plan period for the new local plan was 
identified as 2020 to 2041. The plan period has now been amended to 2024 to 2045. 
This is to ensure the plan meets the requirement of looking ahead at least 15 years 
from the date of adoption.  

4.7 Development Needs 

National planning policy requires plans to, as a minimum, provide for objectively 
assessed needs for housing and other uses, unless any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Our evidence studies 
anticipate around 73,300 additional jobs in Greater Cambridge between 2024 and 
2045.  The draft plan responds to this by planning to deliver at least 48,195 additional 
homes between 2024 and 2045, or 2,295 per year, which also reflects the government’s 
updated standard method housing need calculation for the area. This is an increase of 
some 620 additional homes per year above the current adopted (2018) Local Plans. As 
part of these overall needs, the plan is informed by evidence that has explored 
specialist housing needs, and the need for services and infrastructure to accompany 
development.  

Existing planned development along with windfall sites will deliver around 37,865 
homes by 2045. To deliver the remaining 10,330, the draft plan identifies sites to deliver 
13,463 further homes by 2045 which includes an additional buffer to provide flexibility. 

 The Proposed Development Strategy 

The development strategy aims to direct development to where active and public 
transport is the natural choice, where green infrastructure can be delivered alongside 
new development, and where jobs, services and facilities can be located near to where 
people live, and to use brownfield land opportunities.  

The following order of preference to site selection was guided by both Councils 
agreement, in February 2023, of future development strategy principles and has been 
applied to the identified development needs, reflecting the sustainability of different 
locations to accommodate development: 

• Within the Cambridge urban area;  

• On the edge of Cambridge whilst considering the impact on Green Belt 
purposes;   

• At Cambourne and new settlements; and  

Page 25



 
 

   

 

• In the rural area at Rural Centres and Minor Rural Centres. 
 

Our ambition is for the historic core of Cambridge to be protected and enhanced by 
appropriate new development of the highest design quality, and for the centre to be 
complemented by active, compact neighbourhoods – new and old. A number of 
brownfield land opportunities have been identified in the city. The airport site provides 
an opportunity to create a new urban quarter, and we also want to support the 
Cambridge Biomedical Campus to become a world leading site of innovation and 
healthcare. 

Planned new infrastructure means that Cambourne will become one of the best-
connected places in the region with the A428 upgrade, Greater Cambridge 
Partnership’s proposed public transport corridor and East West Rail project connecting 
Cambridge with Oxford delivering a new railway station. Our plan explores how we can 
respond to this, by presenting a vision for the future of the town, where over several 
decades it would grow to become the largest centre outside Cambridge within the plan 
area, with homes, jobs, services and green spaces.   

South of Cambridge, the area around the M11 and the A1307 corridor is home to a 
range of major business and science parks with world-leading facilities, and has some 
excellent and improving public transport links. The plan includes policies to support the 
continued success of these established employment locations  but also proposes a 
significant new site allocation that seeks to meet affordable and market housing needs 
driven by economic growth within and to the south of the City by capitalising on existing 
and planned new public transport infrastructure to reduce the need for people to travel 
to access these jobs.  

The Plan also continues to support our existing new settlements at Waterbeach, 
Northstowe and Bourn Airfield to develop at pace, into new communities. Policies also 
support villages to continue to thrive. 

Following the completion of the A14 upgrade in 2020 and the growing evidence of a 
need for logistics space in Greater Cambridge to complement the forecast continued 
growth in key knowledge intensive sectors of the economy, this plan also includes 
additional site allocations aimed at meeting this identified need.   

Additional major sites in summary therefore include: 

• Cambridge East – the Airport site provides an opportunity for a major new city 
district for Cambridge, delivering market and affordable housing and 
employment space well connected to the city centre and other important 
locations by high quality public transport.  

 

• Cambridge Biomedical Campus is of national and international importance 
and is a key location for the life-sciences cluster of Greater Cambridge. 
Additional development through release of green belt land is proposed 
subject to delivering significant improvement to the existing campus 

 

• Eddington and West Cambridge together are a hub of innovation for both 
academic and commercial research. Eddington has potential to deliver 

Page 26



 
 

   

 

additional homes beyond what was originally planned whilst retaining open 
spaces and maintaining the quality of the area. 

 

• Cambourne - developing into a larger settlement will make it a more 
sustainable place with more local jobs and services but also linked to a range 
key destinations by fast and frequent public transport.  

 

• An additional new community at Land adjacent to A11 and A1307 (Grange 
Farm) - an opportunity to deliver new homes near to the existing science 
campuses, and where there are planned improvements to public transport 
which would offer connections to the Cambridge Biomedical Campus and the 
City of Cambridge.  The homes would be supported by services and green 
spaces that respond to its setting.    

 

• Wellcome Trust Genome Campus – along with the growth already planned 
for there are now opportunities to explore improvements to the original 
campus and to help this existing and growing campus  to evolve into a 
distinct place, supporting delivery of local services and facilities and helping it 
to find its place in the network of surrounding towns and villages. 
 

• Babraham Research Campus - allocates additional space for research and 
development buildings, as well as the redevelopment of some existing homes 
to better meet the needs of the campus.  
 

• Land to the south of Cambridge Services and Land at A1307 (Slate Hall 
Farm) - on the A14 corridor to responding to the need for industry and 
logistics space. 

 

• North East Cambridge - The Councils have been preparing an Area Action 
Plan for this area recognising its potential to meet future development needs 
for both homes and employment. In August 2025 the Government announced 
that it will not be funding the relocation of the Cambridge Waste Water 
Treatment Plant (CWWTP) through its Housing Infrastructure Fund. This has 
created  uncertainty as to whether the effective delivery of the Councils’ 
earlier published vision for North East Cambridge identified through the Area 
Action Plan remains achievable. For this draft Local Plan it is proposed to 
retain the allocation for North East Cambridge as previously set out in the 
Area Action Plan, but include this within the Local Plan rather than taking 
forward separate AAP. The significance of the area for both economic growth 
but also for the opportunities for better integration with the areas and 
communities surrounding justifies continuing to identify this area within the 
emerging local plan. It is likely that further refinement of the vision, once the 
technical solutions on water treatment are more fully developed, will 
potentially be required over the coming months. However, the Draft Local 
Plan cannot not rely on the housing numbers earlier assumed to be delivered 
given the uncertainty around this site.   

 

Accounting for the potential loss of planned homes on the North East Cambridge 
Hartree site, through the site allocations now outlined, sufficient homes have been 

Page 27



 
 

   

 

identified outside the Green Belt which means that we do not currently consider that 
there are exceptional circumstances required by para 145 of The National Planning 
Policy Framework to justify release of green belt land to meet the needs we have 
identified. Green belt releases at Mingle Lane in Great Shelford and at Station Road 
Oakington proposed in the 2021 First Proposals draft plan have accordingly been 
removed from this updated local plan. The only green belt releases now proposed are 
at Cambridge Biomedical Campus and Babraham Research Campus, where it is 
justified by site specific needs.  

The development strategy focuses on the period between 2024 and 2045, but it also 
delivers a longer-term vision, with number of developments continuing to deliver new 
homes and jobs beyond that period, helping to meet future needs beyond the plan 
period. 

4.8 The Development Management Policy Themes 

The Draft Local Plan sets out development management policies under each theme, 
building on the policies proposed in the First Proposals, taking account of feedback, 
evidence, and new government guidance. The following provides a brief overview: 

• Responding to Climate Change by promoting measures to secure low and 
net zero new build, designing buildings to address over-heating, whilst ensure 
a focus on increased resilience and effective water management plus 
improving tree canopy cover.  

 

• On Biodiversity and Green Spaces setting a higher biodiversity net gain 
target than the national requirement, ensure new developments have access 
to high quality green space, and to secure enhancement of the wider green 
infrastructure network. 

 

• On Wellbeing and Social Inclusion the plan will ensure that health is a key 
driver in the way places are designed, including creating active travel 
environments, easy access to green spaces and local amenities, controlling 
takeaways near schools, and supporting the delivery of cultural, community 
and leisure facilities within new developments whilst also protecting pubs as 
key social hubs.  A new policy supporting the establishment and development 
of “meanwhile uses” is also proposed alongside a policy to secure inclusive 
employment and business opportunities within new developments through 
the implementation of appropriate training programmes funded by 
development.  

 

• Supporting Great Places, the plan calls for people and place responsive 
design alongside the protection and enhancement of landscape 
characteristics. A new skyline and tall buildings policy for the City and a range 
of heritage focused policies, including enabling historic buildings to respond 
to the climate emergency, are proposed.  

 

• On Jobs, support for new employment uses in the City and rural areas will 
complement policies seeking to establish affordable workspaces on larger 
sites to support the creative industries. Within business parks, the plan 

Page 28



 
 

   

 

encourages the development of a range of complementary facilities. Bespoke 
policies meanwhile also support the development of new visitor 
accommodation (and safeguards around short term lets) and tourist related 
attractions whilst sustaining  markets and street trading.    

 

• On Homes, alongside a reaffirmation of the 40% affordable housing 
obligation across all of Greater Cambridge, the plan provides support for self-
build and co-housing projects and proposes controls on the conversion of 
homes to HMO accommodation. It also would require affordable housing 
contributions from commercially driven student accommodation.  For Gypsy 
and Traveller accommodation, following the most recent needs assessment, 
the policy proposes to recognise existing sites and support improvements to 
them, including seeking to safeguard them for Gypsies and Travellers only.  

 

• For Infrastructure, the plan supports continued progress towards sustainable 
travel including enhancing the attractiveness of park and ride and promoting 
consolidation centres for freight. Policies will also secure delivery of 
infrastructure and funding.  

 

4.9 Public Consultation on the Draft Local Plan 

Consultation is anticipated to be held from 1 December 2025 to 30 January 2026. The 
consultation period has been extended to include an additional two weeks to allow for 
the Christmas period. 

We have committed to putting community engagement at the heart of the plan-making 
process, with a focus on seeking meaningful engagement including at the draft Local 
Plan stage.  At the draft Local Plan stage the consultation seeks views on a proposed 
development strategy, specific site allocations, and development management policies.  
The approach to consultation will be designed to reflect this. The main methods for 
consulting on our Local Plan are set out in our adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement. For this consultation will therefore use a range of engagement tools, 
methods and platforms, building on our learning from other recent consultations 
including earlier plan making stages.  

4.10 The Local Development Scheme (LocalPlan Timetable) 

The timetable for the Local Plan is set out in the Greater Cambridge Local Development 
Scheme. Whilst the published Local Development scheme anticipates the consultation 
happening in ‘Autumn/Winter (early) 2025’, this can now be updated to reflect the actual 
planned consultation timeline. In addition, given the changes in circumstances around 
North East Cambridge, a consolidated local plan incorporating key policies from the 
proposed Area Action Plan (AAP) would be the most time efficient and effective way to 
establish a robust planning framework for the area, therefore the revised local 
Development Scheme identifies that a standalone AAP will not be taken forward. 

 

5. Corporate plan 

Page 29

https://greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/0qacmzcq/statement-of-community-involvement-adopted-version-march-2024-final.pdf
https://greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/0qacmzcq/statement-of-community-involvement-adopted-version-march-2024-final.pdf


 
 

   

 

 

5.1 The Local Plan contribute to achieving many of the key priorities set out in: Corporate 
plan 2022-27: our priorities for Cambridge - Cambridge City Council 

Climate change is one of the key themes driving the Local Plan. Relative sustainability 
of different locations has informed the development strategy. Transport is the biggest 
generator of carbon from new development, and the development strategy principles 
proposed seeks to focus development where there are opportunities for travel by active 
modes or public transport. Policies in the draft plan would seek to require development 
standards above normal national standards on a number of issues. Policies seek to 
protect and enhance biodiversity, and support resilience to climate change. The plan 
has been subject to a detailed Sustainability Appraisal to consider the impact of policies 
and proposals. It has also been informed by evidence including a Net Zero Carbon 
Study.  

A range of policies focus on supporting the creation of healthy, active and happy 
communities, identifying the infrastructure and facilities they will need and how they 
should be designed to support healthy living and good quality of life for all. The 
Sustainability Appraisal includes a Health Impact Assessment to determine the impacts 
of the Local Plan on people’s health and well-being. Policies in the plan were also 
informed by a review of the findings and recommendations of the Healthy Places 
Cambridgeshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. 

The draft Local Plan has been informed by the Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy, 
and a suite of evidence exploring different aspects of housing need and what needs to 
be planned for. Policies are proposed to address needs for affordable housing, the mix 
of homes, and the need for specialist housing, including for older people and sites for 
Gypsies and Travellers. 

The Draft Local Plan is accompanied evidence including an Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
and a Viability Assessment. Policies will require new development to contribute towards 
delivery of new infrastructure in response to the needs that it generates. By providing a 
long-term vision for the area, it allows the Councils to plan ahead for where 
development will be taking place in the future. 

6. Consultation, engagement and communication 

 

6.1 The local plan is accompanied by a Statement of Consultation at each stage in its 
preparation to set out what consultation has taken place in preparing the next version of 
the plan. The Consultation Statement supporting the Greater Cambridge Draft Local 
Plan is Appendix E to this report. 

7. Anticipated outcomes, benefits or impact 

 

7.1 Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council are preparing a joint 
Greater Cambridge Local Plan under section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. This Draft Local Plan marks the next stage in the plan making 
process. The Draft Local Plan proposed for consultation has been informed by 

Page 30

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge


 
 

   

 

consideration a wide range of issues including feedback from previous rounds of 
consultation, national planning policy, and the Local Plan evidence base.  

To enable submission of the Local Plan to meet the deadline set by the government for 
local plans under the current plan making system it will be necessary for this stage of 
consultation to progress in time  to allow sufficient time for the Local Plan process to 
conclude with the submission of a Joint Local Plan to the Government by the end of 
2026. 

8. Implications 

 

8.1 Relevant risks 

 The Local Plan is a key corporate priority. Having an up-to-date Local Plan is an 
important element to meeting housing land supply requirements, so the delivery of the 
plan against the timetable will continue to be monitored. Corporate risks being 
monitored include the ability to deliver the Local Plan due to limitations on water, 
sewage and utilities (details of which are provided within this report). These are areas 
where external stakeholders need to deliver if growth needs are to be met. It also 
includes other risks that relate closely to the Local Plan, including some where the 
development of the Local Plan is an important mitigation activity. These include risks 
relating to the maintenance of a five year land supply and the delivery (with partners) of 
key infrastructure such as transport. These risks will continue to be monitored and 
updated to account for the latest developments as the Local Plan process progresses. 

 Financial Implications 

 

8.2 Currently Local Plan is funded by both Cambridge City Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council equally. Both Councils have been able to build up a 
reserve to fund potential future overspends against the annual budget reflecting the 
nature of the local plan process that expenditure varies depending on the stage. In 
years where spending is above the annual budget it is envisaged that it would be 
funded by those reserves, and we would be limited by the amount available in reserves 
before becoming a pressure for the councils to mitigate. 

 

 Legal Implications 

 

8.3 The legal implications of preparing the statutory Local Plan have been considered in the 
writing of this report.  

 Equalities and socio-economic Implications 

 

Page 31



 
 

   

 

8.4 The Draft Local Plan has been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment (see 
Appendix H). 

 Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental implications 

 

8.5 Climate change is one of the key themes driving the Local Plan. Relative sustainability 
of different locations has informed the development strategy. Transport is the biggest 
generator of carbon from new development, and the development strategy principles 
proposed seeks to focus development where there are opportunities for travel by active 
modes or public transport. Policies in the draft plan would seek to require development 
standards above normal national standards on a number of issues. The plan has been 
subject to a detailed Sustainability Appraisal to consider the impact of policies and 
proposals. It has also been informed by evidence including a Net Zero Carbon Study.  

 Procurement Implications 

8.6 N/A 

 Community Safety Implications 

8.7 Health and wellbeing is a major theme for the local plan. A range of policies focus on 
supporting the creation of healthy communities, identifying the infrastructure and 
facilities they will need and how they should be designed to support healthy living. 
Design polices also address safety. 

9. Background documents 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 

Information) Act 1985. 

 

9.1 The following appendices to the supporting documents, topic papers,  and evidence 

base documents have been prepared for the current stage of plan making, and are 

available to view at: Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan: Cabinet Pack | Greater 

Cambridge Shared Planning.  

It is important to note that all documents are currently ‘draft’ versions. All documents are 

being proof-read for spelling, grammar, inconsistencies with figure names and 

numbering, references to policies and appendices. All reviews of content will be 

completed after the joint Cabinet meeting ahead of the proposed consultation.   

 

Page 32

https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/draft-greater-cambridge-local-plan-cabinet-pack
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/draft-greater-cambridge-local-plan-cabinet-pack


 
 

   

 

Proposed amendments to documents post-Committee  

Proposed modifications to the draft Local Plan document, noted as actions from 

Scrutiny Committees are set out in Appendix K.  

A number of other documents have been amended to correct factual errors and have 

been re-uploaded as part of the Cabinet Pack. These are: 

• Draft Greater Cambridge Housing and Employment Land Availability 
Assessment - Addendum Report 2025 (2025) and appendices - to address some 
missing data fields in some records.  
 

The following map based documents have been re-uploaded to correct background 

data formatting issues: 

• Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan: Policies Map (2025)  

• Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan: Cambridge Inset Map (2025) 

• Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan Inset Maps. 
 

Figures are being reviewed for accuracy and clarity ahead of consultation versions of 

the Plan. Proposed changes include simplifying some maps, amending boundaries and 

keys, reviewing the location of details such as heritage assets and connectivity arrows, 

and land uses. Figures include: Figures 1, 9, 13, 15, 16, 19, 46, 52, 59, 60, 70, 75, 76, 

77, 78, 82, 88, 89, 94, 90, 92, 99, 103, 104, 107, 119, 105, 106, 109, and 121.  

It is proposed to introduce new maps to provide further clarity to the policy set out. 

These include: 

• A Key Diagram showing the proposed and existing site allocations and emerging 
transport strategy; 

• A map to show the proposed release of Green Belt land at Cambridge 
Biomedical Campus (including Addenbrooke’s); and 

• A map to show the release of Green Belt land at Babraham Research Campus  

• Addition of Site Plan for Grange Farm. 
 

In preparation for publication of the draft Local Plan and associated documents for 

consultation, the new and amended site submissions from previous Call for Sites from 

the 2025 update have been published on the webpage: Call for Sites. 

Strategy 

• Greater Cambridge Employment and Housing Needs Evidence Update (Reg 18 
Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Iceni Projects) 

• Housing Delivery Study Addendum (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (AECOM) 

Page 33

https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/emerging-plans-and-guidance/greater-cambridge-local-plan-the-20-year-master-plan-for-the-greater-cambridge-area/call-for-sites/


 
 

   

 

• Transport Evidence Report: (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Cambridgeshire 
County Council)  

• Greater Cambridge Green Belt Assessment - Review of Representations (Reg 
18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Land Use Consultants) 

• Greater Cambridge Green Belt Assessment 2021- Errata (Reg 18 Draft Plan 
Stage 2025) (Land Use Consultants) 

• Addendum to Accommodation Needs Assessment of Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Arc4) 

• Accommodation Needs Assessment of Gypsies, Travellers, Travelling 
Showpeople, Bargee Travellers, and other caravan and houseboat dwellers 
2024 (Arc4) 

• Greater Cambridge Flood Risk Sequential Test (Greater Cambridge Shared 
Planning) 
 

Sites 

• Cambourne Spatial Options Report (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Spatial Framework Strategy (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Transport Vision & Principles Report (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Strategic Heritage Impact Assessment (Chris Blandford Associates) 

• Cambourne Site Specific Heritage Impact Assessment (Chris Blandford 
Associates) 

• Cambourne Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Review (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Economic Study (ARUP and others) 

• Cambourne Green and Blue Infrastructure Framework (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Sustainability and Net Zero Framework  (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Heritage Impact Assessment inc. Figures (ARUP) 

• Cambourne Rail Integration Report  

• Cambourne to Cambridge Busway Integration Report  

• North East Cambridge Transport Position Statement 2025 (Cambridgeshire 
County Council) 

• Cambridge East Heritage Impact Assessment (2025) (Chris Blandford 
Associates) 

• Cambridge East Landscape Study (2025) (Land Use Consultants) 

• Grange Farm Heritage Impact Assessment (Chris Blandford Associates) 

• Cambridge Green Belt Assessment Addendum - Cambridge Biomedical Campus 
Site Review (Land Use Consultants) 

• Cambridge Green Belt Assessment Addendum - Cambridge Biomedical Campus 
Site Review of CBC Evidence (Land Use Consultants) 

• North Cambridge Academy Development - Education Authority letter of support 
(2025) 

 

Climate Change 

• Integrated Water Management Study - Level 1 and Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Stantec) 

Page 34



 
 

   

 

• Cambridge Area Water Supply Evidence (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) 
(AtkinsRéalis) 

• Update to Bioregional Net Zero Study - Changes in national policy landscape 
2025 (Bioregional and Etude) 

• Update to Bioregional Net Zero Study - UK Net Zero Carbon Buildings Standard 
summary 2025 (Bioregional) 

• Update to Bioregional Study - Net Zero Policy Cost report 2025 (Currie & Brown 
Limited) 
 

Biodiversity and Green Space 

• Greater Cambridge Green Infrastructure Strategy - Vol 1: Emerging Strategy and 
Standards (Chris Blandford Associates) 

• Greater Cambridge Green Infrastructure Strategy - Vol 2: Emerging Strategy and 
Standards (Chris Blandford Associates) 
 

Great Places 

• Greater Cambridge Heritage Impact Assessment (Chris Blandford Associates) 

• Greater Cambridge Townscape Characterisation Study (Chris Blandford 
Associates) 

• Greater Cambridge Skyline and Tall Buildings Strategy (Chris Blandford 
Associates and Urban Initiatives) 

• Update to Bioregional Net Zero Study - Carbon modelling update 2025 
(Bioregional) 

• Greater Cambridge Landscape Sensitivity Assessment. Part 1 - Landscape 
sensitivity (Chris Blandford Associates) 

• Greater Cambridge Landscape Sensitivity Assessment. Part 2 – Renewable 
Energy development (Chris Blandford Associates) 
 

Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 

• South Cambridgeshire Community Facilities Study 2025 (Cambridgeshire ACRE) 

• Greater Cambridge Cultural Infrastructure Strategy Stage 1 (Genecon) 
 

Jobs 

• Greater Cambridge Growth Sectors Study: Life science and ICT locational, land 
and accommodation needs 2024 (Iceni Projects) 

• Greater Cambridge Industrial and Warehousing Sector Study 2025 (Iceni 
Projects) 

• Greater Cambridge Retail Study (First Proposals Update) (Urban Shape) 

• Greater Cambridge Future Hotel Need Study (2025) (Colliers) 
 

Homes 

Page 35



 
 

   

 

• Housing Needs of Specific Groups in Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire 
(Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Iceni Projects) 
 

Infrastructure 

• Greater Cambridge Draft Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan (Reg 18 Draft 
Plan Stage 2025) (AtkinsRéalis) 

• Greater Cambridge Draft Local Plan Viability Assessment (Reg 18 Draft Plan 
Stage 2025) (Aspinall Verdi) 

• Integrated Water Management Study - Detailed Water Cycle Study (Reg 18 Draft 
Plan Stage 2025) (Stantec) 

• Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan: New Strategic Allocations Assessment – 
Transport Mitigation Measures (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (WSP)  

• Cambridge South East Transport Scheme Busway Extension – Grange Farm 
New Settlement Technical Note (Reg 18 Draft Plan Stage 2025) (Mott 
MacDonald) 
 

Site documents submitted by site promoters  

• Cambridge Biomedical Campus (Quod on behalf of CBC landowners) 

• Cambridge East (Marshall of Cambridge) 

• Land east of A11 & north of A1307 Grange Farm (On behalf of Pampisford 
Estates) 
 

Other documents 

• Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan changes maps (2025) 
 
 

Links to Scrutiny Committees 

Documents were also provided as part of the Scrutiny Committee background papers 

for meetings that took place on 4 November 2025 and 6 November 2025: Draft Greater 

Cambridge Local Plan: Scrutiny Committee Pack | Greater Cambridge Shared 

Planning. 

Agenda for Performance, Assets and Strategy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

Tuesday, 4th November, 2025, 5.30 pm - Cambridge Council 

Agenda for Scrutiny and Overview Committee on Thursday, 6 November 2025, 6.30 

p.m. - South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 

Page 36

https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/draft-greater-cambridge-local-plan-scrutiny-committee-pack
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/draft-greater-cambridge-local-plan-scrutiny-committee-pack
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/draft-greater-cambridge-local-plan-scrutiny-committee-pack
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=534&MId=4642
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=534&MId=4642
https://scdc-mgapp-01.scdc.scambs.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=417&MId=10262&Ver=4
https://scdc-mgapp-01.scdc.scambs.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=417&MId=10262&Ver=4


 
 

   

 

Documents from previous stages: 

The Greater Cambridge Local Plan First Proposals Stage 2021 

• Responses received to the First Proposals consultation can be viewed in full on 
the First Proposals website. We also asked for comments using an anonymous 
quick questionnaire, results are in the form of a spreadsheet, and drawn out 
some of the key results in our report on the consultation. Call for sites 
submissions can be found on the Call for Sites page. The documents and 
evidence library from that stage is available at Greater Cambridge Local Plan – 
First Proposals document library, November 2021 

 

The Greater Cambridge Local Plan Development Strategy Update 2023 Stage  

• Documents published include a Development Strategy Update, Topic Paper, 
Sustainability Appraisal and consultation statement. The documents from that 
stage are available at Greater Cambridge Local Plan - Development Strategy 
Update document library, January 2023 

 

The Greater Cambridge Local Plan Updates following First Proposals  

• Greater Cambridge Local Plan: updates following First Proposals | Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning 
 

The North East Cambridge Area Action Plan 

• Documents related to the North East Cambridge Area Action Plan can be viewed 
on at the following website: North East Cambridge Area Action Plan. The Draft 
Proposed Submission Document Library includes the Proposed Submission 
North East Cambridge Area Action Plan Regulation 19 November 2021, 
supporting documents and evidence base. 

 

Meetings of the Joint Planning Advisory Group 

• Agendas minutes and recordings of meetings can be viewed on the South 
Cambridgeshire District Council website for meetings after 2021, and on the  
Cambridge City Council website for meetings in 2021 and earlier. 

 

Meetings of South Cambridgeshire Cabinet:  Committee details - Cabinet 

Page 37

https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-first-proposals/greater-cambridge-2041/how-much-development-and-1
https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/2620/gclp-first-proposals-questionnaire-responses-redacted.xlsx
https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/2574/gclp-first-proposals-consultation-report-v2.pdf
https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/emerging-plans-and-guidance/greater-cambridge-local-plan/call-for-sites/
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-preferred-options/supporting-documents
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-preferred-options/supporting-documents
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-updates-following-first-proposals/document-library
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-updates-following-first-proposals/document-library
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-updates-following-first-proposals
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-local-plan-updates-following-first-proposals
https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/emerging-plans-and-guidance/north-east-cambridge-area-action-plan/
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-north-east-cambridge-area-action-plan/document-library
https://consultations.greatercambridgeplanning.org/greater-cambridge-north-east-cambridge-area-action-plan/document-library
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1125&Year=0
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1125&Year=0
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=492&Year=0
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=293


 
 

   

 

Meetings of Cambridge Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee: Committee details 

- Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee - Cambridge Council 

10. Appendices 

 

10.1 Appendix A: Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan (Regulation 18) 

Appendix B: Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal (2025) 

Appendix C: Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan Habitats Regulations Assessment 

(2025) 

Appendix D: Topic Papers 

• D1: Strategy  

• D2: Site allocations 

• D3: Climate change  

• D4: Biodiversity and green spaces  

• D5: Wellbeing and social inclusion  

• D6: Great places  

• D7: Jobs 

• D8: Homes 

• D9: Infrastructure  
 

Appendix E: Draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan: Consultation Statement (2025)  

Appendix F: Duty to Cooperate Statement of Compliance (2025) 

Appendix G: Draft Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground (2025) 

Appendix H: Draft Greater Cambridge Draft Local Plan Equalities Impact Assessment 

(2025) 

Appendix I: Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (2025) 

Appendix J: Greater Cambridge Local Development Scheme Update (LocalPlan 

Timetable) (2025) 

Appendix K: Proposed modifications to the draft Local Plan (Actions from Scrutiny 

Committees) 

Page 38

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=475
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=475


 
 

   

 

11. To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please contact 

Jonathan Dixon - Planning Policy Manager  

Telephone: 07514 925952 

email: jonathan.dixon@greatercambridgeplanning.org 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Greater Cambridge Local Plan – Draft Regulation 18 plan for consultation and updated Local Development Scheme

